
 

 

 

 
Saltash Town Council 

Konsel An Dre Essa  
 

 
 

 
The Guildhall 

12 Lower Fore Street 
Saltash 

PL12 6JX 
Telephone: 01752 844846 

www.saltash.gov.uk 
 

23 October 2024 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
I write to summon you to the Meeting of Burial Authority Committee to be held at 
the Guildhall on Tuesday 29th October 2024 at 6.30 pm. 
 
The meeting is open to members of the public and press.  Any member of the public 
requiring to put a question to the Town Council must do so by 12 noon the day 
before the meeting either by email to enquiries@saltash.gov.uk or via The 
Guildhall, 12 Lower Fore Street, Saltash PL12 6JX.  
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
S Burrows 
Town Clerk/ RFO 
 
 
 
 
 
To: 

R Bullock 
J Dent 
J Foster 
M Griffiths 
S Lennox-Boyd 
S Miller 
 

All other Councillors for information 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.saltash.gov.uk/
mailto:enquiries@saltash.gov.uk


 

 

Agenda 
 
1.   To elect a Chairman.   

 
2.   To elect a Vice Chairman.   

 
3.   Health and Safety Announcements.   

 
4.   Apologies.   

 
5.   Declarations of Interest:   

a. To receive any declarations from Members of any registerable (5A of the 
Code of Conduct) and/or non-registerable (5B) interests in matters to be 
considered at this meeting. 

 
b. The Town Clerk to receive written requests for dispensations prior to the start 

of the meeting for consideration. 
 

6.   Public Questions - A 15-minute period when members of the public may ask 
questions of the Town Council.   
 
Please note: Any member of the public requiring to put a question to the Town 
Council must do so by email or via The Guildhall no later than 12 noon the 
day before the meeting. 
 
Members of the public are advised to review the Receiving Public Questions, 
Representations and Evidence at Meetings document prior to attending the 
meeting. 
 

7.   To receive and approve the minutes from the Burial Authority meeting held on 
25 April 2024  as a true and correct record.  (Pages 4 - 9) 
 

8.   To receive the Burial Authority Committee budget statement and consider any 
actions and associated expenditure.  (Page 10) 
 

9.   To consider Risk Management reports as may be received.   
 

10.   To consider Health & Safety reports as may be received.   
 

11.   To receive a request from Antony Estates for shared facilities and consider any 
actions and associated expenditure.  (Pages 11 - 14) 
 

12.   To receive a report from the Service Delivery Department and consider any 
actions and associated expenditure.  (Pages 15 - 18) 
 

13.   To set the Burial Authority Fees and Charges for the year 2025/26 
recommending to the Policy and Finance Committee.  (Page 19) 
 

14.   To set the Burial Authority budget for the year 2025/26 recommending to the 
Policy and Finance Committee.  (Page 20) 

Page 2



 

 

15.   To receive the Law Commission Burial and Cremation Consultation and 
consider any actions.  (Pages 21 - 47) 
 

16.   Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960:   
To resolve that pursuant to Section 1 (2) of the Public Bodies (Admission to 
Meetings) Act 1960 the public and press leave the meeting because of the 
confidential nature of the business to be transacted. (As required or if 
necessary). 
 

17.   To consider any items referred from the main part of the agenda.   
 

18.   Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960:   
To resolve that the public and press be re-admitted to the meeting. 
 

19.   To confirm any press and social media releases associated with any agreed 
actions and expenditure of the meeting.   
 

Date of Next Meeting: Date Not Specified at Time Not Specified 

Page 3



77 

SALTASH TOWN COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the  Meeting of the Burial Authority Committee held at the Guildhall 
on Thursday 25th April 2024 at 6.30 pm 
 
PRESENT: Councillors: R Bullock, J Dent (Chairman), M Griffiths and 

S Miller (Vice-Chairman). 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr W Trinick, Antony Estate, S Burrows (Town Clerk / RFO) 

and F Morris (Planning and General Administrator). 
 
APOLOGIES:         None received.               
 
___________________________________________________________ 

 
1/24/25 HEALTH AND SAFETY ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

 
The Chairman informed those present of the actions required in the 
event of a fire or emergency. 
 
The Town Clerk informed the Chairman of Councillor Richard Bickford’s 
attendance at this evening’s meeting and that at the discretion of the 
Chairman, Councillor Bickford may sit at the table and join the 
discussion but has no voting rights.   
 
The Chairman and Members welcomed Councillor Bickford to the 
meeting and invited him to sit at the table.  
 
 

2/24/25 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST: 
 
a. To receive any declarations from Members of any registerable (5A of 

the Code of Conduct) and/or non-registerable (5B) interests in 
matters to be considered at this meeting. 
 
None. 

 
b. The Town Clerk to receive written requests for dispensations prior to 

the start of the meeting for consideration. 
 
None. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 7



78 

3/24/25 PUBLIC QUESTIONS - A 15-MINUTE PERIOD WHEN MEMBERS OF 
THE PUBLIC MAY ASK QUESTIONS OF THE TOWN COUNCIL. 
 
None. 
 
The Town Clerk informed the Chairman of Mr William Trinick’s 
attendance at this evening’s meeting.  Subject to approval from the 
Chairman, Members may wish to ask questions of Mr Trinick, the 
Manager of Antony Estate, when receiving Agenda Item 9 – To receive 
a request from Antony Estates for the use of Churchtown Cemetery and 
consider any actions and associated expenditure. 
 
 

4/24/25 TO RECEIVE AND APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM THE BURIAL 
AUTHORITY MEETING HELD ON 24TH OCTOBER 2023 AS A TRUE 
AND CORRECT RECORD. 
 
Please see a copy of the minutes on the STC website or request to see 
a copy at the Guildhall. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Dent, seconded by Councillor Miller and 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Burial Authority Committee held on 
24th October 2023 were confirmed as a true and correct record. 
 
 

5/24/25 TO RECEIVE THE BURIAL AUTHORITY COMMITTEE BUDGET 
STATEMENT AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Dent, seconded by Councillor Bullock 
and RESOLVED: 
 
1. To note the budget statement; 
 
2. To vire £500 from budget code 6008 Tree Surveys to budget code 

6004 General Site Maintenance due to an overspend. 
 
 

6/24/25 TO CONSIDER HEALTH & SAFETY REPORTS AS MAY BE 
RECEIVED. 
 
Nothing to report. 
 
 

7/24/25 TO CONSIDER RISK MANAGEMENT REPORTS AS MAY BE 
RECEIVED. 
 
Nothing to report. 
 
 

Page 5



79 

8/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REQUEST FROM ANTONY ESTATES FOR THE USE 
OF CHURCHTOWN CEMETERY AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS 
AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
Members received the report submitted by Mr William Trinick of Antony 
Estate contained within the circulated reports pack. 
 
Members discussed the proposal and implications of the multiuse of the 
Churchtown Cemetery car park and asked questions of Mr William 
Trinick.  
 
The Town Clerk advised Members with regard to concerns relating to 
an in principle decision and the need for the Town Council to consider 
the importance of maintaining the service already provided to the 
community through Churchtown Cemetery. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Dent, seconded by Councillor Miller and 
RESOLVED to defer to the next meeting of the Burial Authority 
Committee, subject to a meeting being held between Mr William Trinick, 
the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Burial Authority Committee and 
the Town Clerk, to better understand the proposed Natural Burial 
Ground and potential Town Council support. 
 
Following the resolution, the Chairman granted Councillor Bickford’s 
request to put a question to Mr William Trinick: 
 
We understand Churchtown Farm Nature Reserve is a very beautiful 
area of our town and I wonder if you can tell us anything about the 
future of beyond what you have for this particular section of it for the 
rest of the area that’s currently Churchtown Farm Reserve.  
 
In response to Councillor Bickford’s question concerning the future of 
Churchtown Farm Nature Reserve, Mr Trinick stated that discussions 
are taking place with Cornwall Wildlife Trust as the Lease with regard to 
Churchtown Farm Nature Reserve is due for renewal in 18 months’ 
time.  Mr Trinick confirmed that Antony Estate want to continue 
managing Churchtown Farm Nature Reserve as conservation land and 
to allow continuing public access, as clearly it gives joy to a lot of 
people in Saltash.   
 
Mr Trinick considered that more management may be required with 
regard to public access due to admission having been allowed to 
develop in a totally unmanageable way.  Amongst other issues, this has 
caused problems with regard to livestock grazing.   
 
The existence of linear paths which are well used was acknowledged 
by Mr Trinick and Antony Estate are not considering stopping this type 
of access.  Further discussions will be held with Cornwall Wildlife Trust 
and their continuing involvement is expected.   
 

Page 6



80 

In conclusion, Mr Trinick confirmed that there will be no dramatic 
changes with regard to the public.  Perhaps just some more 
management of public access due to it being indiscriminate at present. 
 
 

9/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REQUEST FROM THE FRIENDS OF CHURCHTOWN 
FARM AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
Members received the report submitted by the Chairman of The Friends 
of Churchtown Farm Nature Reserve contained within the circulated 
reports pack. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Bullock 
and RESOLVED: 
 
1. To approve The Friends of Churchtown Farm Nature Reserve to 

purchase a plaque and to fund the associated costs; 
 

2. To approve The Friends of Churchtown Farm Nature Reserve to 
install the plaque at the site known as The Murderer’s Plot, Town 
Council land, subject to the Town Clerk’s sign off; 

 
3. To note that Members advise The Friends of Churchtown Farm 

Nature Reserve to seek the advice of Saltash Heritage in connection 
with the criteria for the Blue Plaque Scheme. 

 
 

10/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT FROM THE SERVICE DELIVERY 
DEPARTMENT AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Dent, seconded by Councillor Griffiths 
and RESOLVED: 
 
1. To note the report; 

 
2. To delegate to the Service Delivery Manager to procure and install safety 

signs within the Town Council parking area at Churchtown Cemetery 
working within budget 6003 Health and Safety; 

 
3. To delegate to the Service Delivery Manager to liaise with the developer to 

better understand the safety element of the large drop into the back 
gardens of the properties opposite. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



81 

11/24/25 TO RECEIVE AMENDMENTS TO THE CHURCHTOWN CEMETERY 
MANAGEMENT POLICY AND REGULATIONS AND CONSIDER ANY 
ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURE. 
 
Members received the report contained within the circulated reports 
pack. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Griffiths, seconded by Councillor Dent 
and resolved to RECOMMEND to Full Council to approve the 
amendments to the Churchtown Cemetery Management Policy and 
Regulations (as attached). 
 
 

12/24/25 TO RECEIVE A REPORT ON THE BURIAL MANAGEMENT 
SOFTWARE AND CONSIDER ANY ACTIONS AND ASSOCIATED 
EXPENDITURE. 
 
Members received the report contained within the circulated reports 
pack. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Griffiths 
and RESOLVED: 
 
1. To terminate the existing cemetery software subscription in line with 

the 6 months’ notice period; 
 
2. To appoint Company C at a cost of £1,009 for the year 2024/2025; 
 
3. To approve the data transfer one off cost of £25 to provide continued 

access to the current burial software and to allow the migration of 
data; 

 
4. To vire £1,034 from budget code 6070 EMF Churchtown Cemetery 

Capital Works to budget code 6014 Cemetery Software to cover 
associated costs. 

 
 

13/24/25 PUBLIC BODIES (ADMISSION TO MEETINGS) ACT 1960: 
 
To resolve that pursuant to Section 1 (2) of the Public Bodies 
(Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 the public and press leave the 
meeting because of the confidential nature of the business to be 
transacted. (As required or if necessary). 
 
 

14/24/25 TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE MAIN PART OF 
THE AGENDA. 
 
None. 
 

Page 8



82 

 
15/24/25 PUBLIC BODIES (ADMISSION TO MEETINGS) ACT 1960: 

 
To resolve that the public and press be re-admitted to the meeting. 
 
 

16/24/25 TO CONFIRM ANY PRESS AND SOCIAL MEDIA RELEASES 
ASSOCIATED WITH ANY AGREED ACTIONS AND EXPENDITURE 
OF THE MEETING. 
 
None. 
 
 

 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Tuesday 29 October 2024 at 6.30 pm 
 
Rising at: 7.29 pm 

 
 

Signed:  

 Chairman 
 

Dated: 
 
 

Page 9



Burial Authority Committee - Burial Authority Budget 2024-25
Saltash Town Council
For 6 Months ended 30 September 2024

Account
Actual 

2023/24

Budget 
Including 

Virements 
2024/25

Actual YTD 
2024/25

Budget 
Available 

2024/25

Burial Authority Income
4612 BA Cemetery Fees (Churchtown) 17,505 12,104 11,441 663
4614 BA Memorial Bench Income (Churchtown) 950 900 0 900
4615 BA National Grid Wayleave Income 0 15 0 15

18,455 13,019 11,441 1,578

Burial Authority Expenditure
6000 BA Petrol 117 406 75 331
6001 BA Machinery Maintenance Costs 121 296 188 108
6003 BA Health & Safety 0 60 0 60
6004 BA General Site Maintenance 2,132 658 558 100
6005 BA Fire Extinguishers 0 97 0 97
6008 BA Tree Survey & Tree Maintenance 0 849 0 849
6009 BA Electricity Costs 396 394 136 258
6010 BA PWLB Loan Repayment & Interest 21,385 21,385 10,692 10,693
6011 BA Water 0 391 0 391
6012 BA Memorial Bench (Expenditure) 187 751 0 751
6013 BA Security Alarm Maintenance 164 186 132 54
6014 BA Cemetery Software Subscription 377 1,439 290 1,149

Total Burial Authority Operating Expenditure 24,878 26,912 12,071 14,841

Total Burial Authority Operating Surplus/ (Deficit) (6,423) (13,893) (629) (13,264)

Burial Authority EMF Expenditure
6070 BA EMF Churchtown Cemetery Capital Works 2,279 4,391 (20) 4,411
6071 BA EMF Replace Machinery & Equipment 0 13,942 127 13,815
6073 BA EMF Memorial Garden 476 3,724 154 3,570

Total Burial Authority EMF Expenditure 2,755 22,057 261 21,797

Total Burial Authority Expenditure (Operational & EMF) 27,633 48,969 12,331 36,638

Total Burial Authority Budget Surplus/ Deficit (9,178) (35,950) (890) (35,060)

To/From Reserves & Budget Virements 2024/25

 2. Virement from 4512 SE National Grid Wayleave Income to 4615 BA National Grid Wayleave Income - £15 - SE 69/24/25

Key
Spending is on target as predicted at this point in the financial year
Spending is higher than anticipated and needs to be monitored closely
Budget is overspent - requires investigation and recommend virement

Total Operating Income

 1. Virement from 6070  BA EMF Churchtown Cemetery Capital Works to 6014 BA Cemetery Software Subscription - £1,034 - BA 
12/24/25

Page 10

Agenda Item 8



To receive draft Heads of Terms for a licence for shared use of a car park at 
Churchtown Cemetery 

 

Attached to this report is Anthony Estates proposed draft Heads of Terms for a Licence 
for shared use of Churchtown Cemetery car park for Members consideration. 

William Trinick Estate Manager met with the Town Council Service Delivery Manager on 
site to better understand the Town Council’s funeral process at Churchtown Cemetery.  
It seems that the only possible site-specific involvement from Saltash Town Council 
might be putting out cones on the road, but William agreed that this could and would best 
be done by Anthony Estates.  This hopefully simplifies the proposed arrangement 
between both parties and does not involve any costs for Saltash Town Council.  The 
proposed terms in any case allow for any direct costs now or in the future to be recharged 
to Anthony Estates. 

The Heads of Terms don’t include the use of Churchtown Cemetery car park for those 
visiting graves.  In terms of how it works operationally, it would be the same but without 
prior notification to Saltash Town Council.  We would hope that everyone needing to use 
the car park would be respectful of funerals taking place on their arrival and is subject to 
availability at the time.  Anthony Estates have not included any cost within the proposed 
licence fee to cover revisits.  

Commercial terms: 

1. £500 per year annually in advance 
 

2. A charge of £50 per burial, to be paid within seven days of the car park booking 
being confirmed. 

Both 1 and 2 will be increased five yearly in line with the Retail Prices Index (RPI). 

The proposed commercial terms (as above) are an assessment based on what Anothony 
Estates expect their income to be.  Charges for natural burials are typically between 
£1,000 and £1,500, out of which comes operating overheads including a manager, the 
long-term management of the site and direct costs associated with each burial.  Based 
on say 25 burials per year at £1,200, the parking charge for burial, plus the annual £500, 
would be about 6% of their gross turnover, which they feel would be realistic. 

The increase in line with RPI five yearly isn’t in line with Saltash Town Council budget / 
precept setting.  Members may wish to consider this further. 

The draft Heads of Terms include the adoption of Saltash Town Council’s booking system.  
This has brought comfort to their request.  We don’t want any Town Council service to fail 
especially funerals.   

Page 11

Agenda Item 11



There are now four Town Council staff members trained in the administration of burials, 
cremations and memorials at Town Council level not funeral director level.  This is 
sufficient to be able to accommodate the natural burial site as per the draft Heads of 
Terms should Saltash Town Council wish to proceed.  The number of staff trained allows 
for sickness and annual leave without compromising the Town Council service 
(Churchtown Cemetery) and potentially the Licence with Anthony Estates. 

Any additional requests from Anthony Estate would need to be considered at the time of 
the request by the Town Clerk. 

Break Clause: 

Either party may serve to the other not less than 12 months’ notice to terminate the 
Licence on the fifth anniversary of the Term and Five yearly thereafter.  

The above raises concern in that it would be very difficult for Saltash Town Council to end 
the agreement if it doesn’t work (6 years is a long time).  However, any length of time 
would be difficult because the site is relying on some parking being available and will be 
moving the project forward on that basis. 

Service Delivery: 

It is to be expected that our team may be working at Churchtown Cemtery the day of a 
natural burial taking place.  Depending on the type of work there may need to be down 
time to respect the funeral, however, the Town Council administration department will 
work closely with service delivery department so that they are aware of all funerals taking 
place. 

 

End of Report 

Town Clerk / RFO 

 

 

Page 12



 

Estate Off ice,  Antony,  Torpoint,  Cornwall .  PL11  3AB tel :  01752 815303    
email :  info@antonyestate.com 

 
 

 
Draft 

HEADS OF TERMS 
for a Licence for shared use of a car park at Churchtown, Saltash 

 
Subject to contract 

Parties Saltash Town Council (STC/Licensor) and Antony Estate (AE/Licensee) 

 

Area for use The Churchtown Cemetery Car Park. 

 

Proposed use Use for parking for those attending burials at the proposed Churchtown natural 

burial ground, only for the duration of the burial. 

 

Term 40 years from the commencement date of the Licence. 

 

Break clauses Either party may serve to the other not less than 12 months’ notice to 

terminate the Licence on the fifth anniversary of the Term and five yearly 

thereafter. 

 

Booking system AE will adopt the preferred booking method of STC, namely the following or 

otherwise any other system that STC nominates: 

1. AE will email STC via its nominated email address (currently 

burialsandmemorials@saltash.gov.uk) to request a date and time for the 

use of the car park for an internment. 

2. The Town Council Administrator will follow STC’s internal procedures as it 

does for similar requests from funeral directors and either confirm this date 

and time or ask for another to be requested, in which case the procedure 

will be repeated. 

AE will arrange its own grave digging and the placing of cones on the 

roadside, so there is no further service is required from STC. 

 

Commercial terms AE will pay STC a licence fee as follows: 

1.  £500 per year annually in advance. 

2. A charge of £50 per burial, to be paid within seven days of the car park 

booking being confirmed. 

Both sums will be increased five yearly in line with the Retail Prices Index. 

 

AE will additionally pay STC any charges for any specific services provided by 

STC.  

Page 13



 

2 

Responsibilities AE will be responsible for ensuring that the car park is left in a clean and tidy 

state after every burial and will be fully responsible for the rectification of any 

specific damages that occur. 

 

Insurance AE will indemnify STC against all losses and damages arising out of its use of 

the car park. 

 

Alienation  AE may create its own management vehicle, such as a company or similar 

entity under its direct control, in order to operate the natural burial site, but will 

not assign or sub-let the Licence agreement to any third party. 

 

 

Reputational 

matters  

AE will use best endeavours to manage the natural burial ground served by the 

car park to a high standard and in cooperation with STC and members of the 

public, and will establish a trust for the management of the site which will 

remain in existence for the long term in order to ensure its upkeep for the 

benefit of the family and descendants of the deceased. 

 

Legal costs AE will pay STC’s reasonable legal costs for the preparation and completion of 

the licence agreement. 

 

 
 

Page 14



To receive a report from the Service Delivery Department and consider any actions 
and associated expenditure 

 

 

1. Hedging in Churchtown Children’s area.  

 

Some time ago box hedging was plated to create a divider to the children’s burial area. 
This has not taken well due to not enough plants and the wide spacing. We would like to 
create a better hedge by adding extra box planting to help the hedge take shape and grow 
to a similar size as the hedging either side. See image  

 

We are estimating 30 extra plants required at a total of £150  

 

 

 
Members are asked to consider the cost to buy the plants for Churchtown 
Cemetery. Due to the lack of available budget (£100) from 6004 BA General Site 
Maintenance, we would look to undertake the work in April 2025 when sufficient 
funds are available. 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 15

Agenda Item 12



 

2. Install new water heater to Churchtown toilets.  
  
 
The current water heater over the sink in the staff toilet has broken (not repairable). The 
public toilet currently only operates with cold water which isn’t ideal. We would like to 
fit a 2 KW 10 Ltr Ariston water heater that will then serve both toilets. This will bring the 
toilet block up to the correct standards for hygiene for the public and staff.  
 

                                                 

 

 

This would be installed in-house via our trained staff. With fixtures and fittings this will 
be approximately £155 to install.  
  
Members are asked to consider the cost to fit the water heater for Churchtown 
Cemetery. This would normally come from budget code 6004 BA General Site 
Maintenance.  However, the current available budget left is £100. 
  
Members are asked to consider allocating the cost to budget code 6000 BA Petrol.  
Available balance £331. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



 

3. Churchtown Cemetery grave plan signage.  
 
We are currently in the process of designing a site plan sign of Churchtown Cemetery. 
This will show the sections of ashes plots, rose garden, children’s area along with the 
lettering of each row of graves, A, B, C etc. We feel this will help the public and families 
to locate areas and graves when visiting the site especially as Churchtown Cemetery is 
not manned.  
 

The image is a draft design only as an example. 
 

 
 

 

The image below indicates the location for the sign which will be angled and around waist height to 
ensure full accessibility.  

                         
 

Page 17



 

Members are asked to delegate to the Service Delivery Manager to obtain a design 
together with a quote working within budget 6070 BA EMF Churchtown Cemetery Capital 

Works and subject to the Town Clerk sign off.   

4. Staining and painting of fence, gates and facia to Churchtown Store.  
 
 
We replaced the fencing to the Churchtown equipment store and yard area during 
January of this year 2024, a much needed job. We are now at the point of treating the 
timber with some stain preservative to give the timber a longer life span. This will also 
tone the fencing making it look much neater for when the public are walking around the 
cemetery.  

                                           
  
Members to note the update.  
 

 

 
 
End of Report   
Service Delivery Manager  

 

Page 18



Description 2024/25 Charges 
2025/26 Proposed 

Charges
Amendments

Interment Fees

Interment under the age of 18 years - Saltash residents only No Charge No Charge
1st Interment over the age of 18 years - (triple depth plot) £700 £700
2nd & 3rd Interment over the age of 18 years - (ERB determined) £700 £700
1st Interment of ashes in a casket - (double depth plot) £333 £333
2nd Interment of ashes in a casket - (ERB determined) £333 £333
1st Interment of loose ashes - (double depth plot) £167 £167
2nd Interment of loose ashes - (ERB determined) £167 £167
Interment of ashes in Garden of Remembrance £333 £333

Service Men and Emergency Service Personnel killed in active service - Saltash residents only. No Charge No Charge

Exclusive Right of Burial including Plot Deed (Exclusive Right of Burial must be purchased with 
1st Interment) -  Length of Exclusive Right of Burial  - 10 Years

Exclusive Right of Burial under the age of 18 years - Saltash residents only No Charge No Charge
Exclusive Right of Burial 1st Interment over the age of 18 years £333 £333
Exclusive Right of Burial 1st Interment of ashes in a casket £111 £111
Exclusive Right of Burial 1st Interment of loose ashes £111 £111
Service Men and Emergency Service Personnel killed in active service - Saltash Residents Only. No Charge No Charge

Memorial Permissions - Length of Right to Erect a Memorial - 10 years 

Permission to erect headstone under the age of 18 years - Saltash residents only No Charge
Permission to erect headstone including first inscription £111 £111
Additional inscriptions £56 £56
Permission to place cremated remains tablet £56 £56
Removal of a headstone & cremation tablet other than for an additional inscription £56 £56
Renewal of Grant of Right to Erect a Memorial £28 £28
Permission to erect/place monument CWG/MOD Commonwealth War Grave / Ministry of Defence No Charge No Charge
Cremation foundation slab and tablet to be supplied by ERB owner
Service Men and Emergency Service Personnel killed in active service - Saltash residents only. No Charge

Renewal of Exclusive Rights of Burial - Length of Exclusive Right of Burial - 10 Years

Single grave for the interment and renewal under the age of 18 years - Saltash resident only No Charge No Charge
Renewal of Exclusive Rights of Burial £28 £28
Renewal of Exclusive Rights of Cremated Remains £28 £28
Issue & registration of duplicate deed of grant of grave space £28 £28
Inspection of Burial Register £28 £28
Transfer of ERB certificate up to a maximum of 2 hours, and then charged on an hourly basis at £25 per 
hour £51 £51
Transfer of ERB certificate by Statutory Declaration up to a maximum of 2 hours, and then charged at 
an hourly basis at £25 per hour £84 £84
Permission of right to CWG Commonwealth War Grave Commission or MOD Ministry of Defence No Charge No Charge
Permission to place a war grave marker No Charge No Charge
Exhumations of coffins or cremated remains casket/loose ashes Price on  Application Price on  Application
Search of Registers by our staff (per search) £28 £28
Search of Registers by our staff (non resident) £56 £56

Double standard fees apply to non Saltash residents, except those who were resident until 2 years prior 
to their death. (Non-resident fees are at the discretion of the Chairman of the Burial Authority 
Committee)

All Fees Double All Fees Double 

Benches & Other Memorials - 10 Years Lease (Residents & Non Residents) (VATABLE)

Rose Bush - Permission to place a rose bush and memorial plaque at Churchtown Cemetery in the 
memorial garden

£100 inc. VAT £100 inc. VAT

To supply, fit and maintain a memorial bench Including plaque    £540 inc. VAT           £540 inc. VAT          

Burial Authority - Churchtown Cemetery
Fees and Charges

Page 19

Agenda Item 13



Burial Authority Committee - Burial Authority Budget 2024-25 Black text - budget assumptions
Saltash Town Council Red text - Actions required by FO
For the year ended 31 March 2025 Purple text - new codes

Blue text - recommend virements

Account
Actual 

2023/24

Budget 
Including 

Virements 
2024/25

Actual 
YTD 

2024/25

Budget 
Available 

2024/25

Precept 
2025/26

Notes
Budget 
2026/27

Budget 
2027/28

Budget 
2028/29

Budget 
2029/30

Burial Authority Operating Income
4612 BA Cemetery Fees 17,505 12,104 10,436 1,668 15,000 Based on Current Year income 15,450 15,914 16,392 16,884

4614 BA Memorial Bench Income 950 900 167 733 458
Based on 1 bench & 1 rose bush
Rename code to include all items 
on F&C

756 779 803 828

4615 BA National Grid Wayleave Income 0 15 0 15 15 Based on Current Year income 16 17 18 19

Total Burial Authority Operating Income 18,455 13,019 10,603 2,416 15,473 16,222 16,710 17,213 17,731

Burial Authority Operating Expenditure
6000 BA Petrol 117 406 75 331 250 Current Budget + CPI 3% 341 352 363 374

6001 BA Machinery Maintenance Costs 121 296 188 108 305 Current Budget + CPI 3% 112 116 120 124

6003 BA Health & Safety 0 60 0 60 0

Budget not used. H&S equipment 
purchased by P&F for all sites. 
Delete code
Vire unused budget to 6070 BA 
EMF Churchtown Cemetery Capital 
Works

6004 BA General Site Maintenance 2,132 658 558 100 1,000 Based on current year spend 104 108 112 116

6005 BA Fire Extinguishers 0 97 0 97 100 Current Budget + CPI 3% 100 103 107 111

6008 BA Tree Survey & Tree Maintenance 0 849 0 849 875 Current Budget + CPI 3% 875 902 930 958

6009 BA Electricity Costs 396 394 136 258 406 Current Budget + CPI 3% 266 274 283 292

6010 BA PWLB Loan Repayment & Interest 21,385 21,385 10,692 10,693 10,693 Last instalment July 25 0 0 0 0

6011 BA Water 0 391 0 391 403 Current Budget + CPI 3% 403 416 429 442

6012 BA Memorial Bench (Expenditure) 187 751 30 721 408

Based on 1 bench & 1 rose bush 
£396 + CPI 3%
Rename code to match income 
4614

743 766 789 813

6013 BA Security Alarm Maintenance 164 186 132 54 241 2024/25 Annual Maintenance £219 
+ 10% for 2025/26

57 59 61 63

6014 BA Cemetery Software Subscription 377 1,439 290 1,149 726 2024/25 subscription £660 + 10% 
increase

1,184 1,220 1,257 1,295

Total Burial Authority Operating Expenditure 24,878 26,912 12,100 14,812 15,407 4,185 4,316 4,451 4,588

Total Burial Authority Operating Surplus/ (Deficit) (6,423) (13,893) (1,498) (12,395) 66 12,037 12,394 12,762 13,143

Burial Authority EMF Expenditure

6070 BA EMF Churchtown Cemetery Capital Works 2,279 4,391 (20) 4,411 Refer to Property Maintenance 5 
year plan

1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500

6071 BA EMF Replace Machinery & Equipment 0 13,942 127 13,815 0 No increase required 0 0 0 0

6073 BA EMF Memorial Garden 476 3,724 154 3,570 0 No increase required 0 0 0 0

Total Burial Authority EMF Expenditure 2,755 22,057 261 21,797 0 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500

Total Burial Authority Expenditure (Operational & EMF) 27,633 48,969 12,361 36,608 15,407 5,685 5,816 5,951 6,088

Total Burial Authority Budget Surplus/ Deficit (9,178) (35,950) (1,758) (34,192) 66 10,537 10,894 11,262 11,643

Estimated CPI 3% for Qtr 4 2024/25* Precept 2024/25 -14,374
* Bank of England Monetary Policy Report August 24 Precept 2025/26 66

Increase / (Decrease) -14,440
Difference as % -100.46%

Page 20

Agenda Item 14



To receive the Law Commission Burial and Cremation Consultation and 

consider any actions 

Burial and Cremation Consultation 2024 

The Law Commission is currently considering changes to update burial laws with a 

public consultation running until 9 January 2025. Lack of burial space has been 

identified as a key issue with grave reuse being proposed as a solution to the problem. 

One of the areas being considered is closed and disused churchyards. The 

Commission proposes reforms to allow them to be reopened, allowing people to be 

buried closer to home, or in a graveyard that holds special meaning for them. It 

appears that the proposals currently do not intend to stop closures of churchyards, but 

will allow, if there is a need, to reopen them.  A summary of the consultation paper is 

attached as part of the reports pack. There is also a short video summary which can 

be accessed here: 

Law Commission Burial and Cremation Consultation 2024 

The Burial and Cremation Consultation Paper can be found here: 

Law Commission Consultation Paper 

Stakeholders who run burial grounds are invited to respond to the consultation which 

is available online. 

The Law Commission will use the responses to the consultation to develop their 

recommendations to government for reform and expect the report to be published in 

late 2025. 

 

End of report 

Senior Policy and Data Compliance Officer 

Page 21

Agenda Item 15

https://youtu.be/Jtxog-HH6Iw
https://cloud-platform-e218f50a4812967ba1215eaecede923f.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/sites/30/2024/09/Burial-and-Cremation-Consultation-Paper.pdf


Burial and Cremation

Summary of the Consultation Paper

Page 22



Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper2

This consultation

Who we are? The Law Commission of England and Wales is an 
independent body established by statute to make 
recommendations to government to reform the law.

What are we doing? Conducting a public consultation on our provisional 
proposals to reform the law governing burial and cremation.

What is it about? The law relating to burial and cremation.

Why are 
we consulting?

We are seeking views on our provisional proposals and 
asking questions. Your views will be carefully considered 
when we decide on our final recommendations.

Who do we 
want to hear from?

We are keen to receive responses from as many 
stakeholders as possible. That includes those who operate 
burial grounds or crematoria, those who use them, funeral 
directors, and those with an interest in what happens to our 
bodies after we die.

Page 23



3Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper

What is the deadline? The consultation runs for 14 weeks and closes on 
9 January 2025.

What happens next? After reviewing all responses, we will decide on our final 
recommendations for law reform, which we will publish in 
a report at the end of 2025.

This summary

This summary does not summarise all of 
the provisional proposals and questions 
set out in our detailed Consultation Paper. 
Instead, it explains what the project is 
about, provides some context, and then 
highlights significant issues discussed in 
the Consultation Paper. This summary only 
provides an overview of those significant 
issues. There are Consultation Questions 
in the Consultation Paper which are not 
discussed in this summary.

Before responding, you are encouraged 
to read our full Consultation Paper, 
or the relevant parts of it. You do not 
have to respond to all the questions 
in our consultation. References in this 
summary are to the chapters of the 
Consultation Paper.

The Consultation Paper does not contain 
any final recommendations for reform of the 
law. Rather, it makes provisional proposals. 
We will analyse the responses we receive 
and consider what recommendations 
we make to Government in our report. 
It will then be for Government to decide 
how to take them forward, and for 
Parliament to pass any new Acts needed 
to change the law.

Page 24



Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper4

Responding to our 
consultation

The full Consultation Paper is available on 
our website at: https://lawcom.gov.uk/
project/burial-and-cremation/. The deadline 
for responses is 9 January 2025.

We encourage you to submit your response 
using the online form available at the link 
above. If possible, please use this method. 

Alternatively, you can send your comments: 

• by email to bcnfm@
lawcommission.gov.uk; or

• by post to Burial and Cremation project, 
Property, Family and Trust Law team, 
Law Commission, 1st Floor, 
52 Queen Anne’s Gate.

If you send your comments by post, 
it would be helpful to also send them 
electronically if possible.

When providing responses, we ask 
consultees if they could avoid including 
personal identifying information in the text of 
their response, particularly where this may 
reveal other people’s identities.

Some of our Consultation Questions ask for 
consultees’ views on a provisional proposal, 
where we think that the evidence is sufficient 
for us to advocate a particular way forward. 
Others ask open questions, inviting 
consultees to share their views where we do 
not make a provisional proposal.

Why is reform needed?

Approximately half a million people die in 
England and Wales each year, and each 
death will affect the lives of many other 
people. Almost all of the bodies of those 
who die will be buried or cremated, and 
so this area of law affects how each of us 
grieves and commemorates our losses. 
This area of law impacts us not just as 
individuals, but also as members of different 
communities and faiths. The respect which 
we show to the dead is of significance to the 
whole of society.  

This project makes provisional proposals 
for reform to the law governing burial and 
cremation. It represents a key opportunity 
for significant reforms to the law in these 
two areas. Some of the law on burial has 
remained unchanged since the 1850s, while 
the main piece of legislation on cremation 
dates to 1902. Aspects of the law in its 
current state offer too little protection to 
people who bury or cremate their family and 
friends. Research also shows that there is a 
risk of burial space running out in the future, 
which is an issue that law reform could 
help to address.

Regulation of burial grounds
Burial law has evolved over the centuries, 
moving from being solely the responsibility of 
the Church of England to the diverse burial 
sector we see today. As a result, different 
laws apply to the burial grounds which are 
operated by local authorities, the Church 
of England, the Church in Wales, and to 
different kinds of private burial grounds. 

Page 25

https://lawcom.gov.uk/project/burial-and-cremation/
https://lawcom.gov.uk/project/burial-and-cremation/
mailto:bcnfm%40lawcommission.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:bcnfm%40lawcommission.gov.uk?subject=


5Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper

“Private” burial grounds

When we refer to “private” burial grounds 
in this Consultation Paper, we include 
burial grounds operated by private 
companies. But we also include all burial 
grounds which are not operated by local 
authorities or the Church of England (or 
the Church in Wales, in some contexts). 
That includes, for example, burial grounds 
run by charities or other religious faiths. 

Some of the law that applies to burial 
grounds is over 170 years old, and it is not 
fit for the twenty-first century. The varied 
development of burial law also means that 
it features significant gaps. In many private 
burial grounds and in Church of England 
churchyards there is nothing in place to 
govern how bodies should be buried. There 
are different standards to which burial 
grounds should be maintained, and none 
which apply to many private cemeteries. In 
the rare cases where there are problems 
in private cemeteries, that can result in 
it being difficult for Government to take 
action to enforce standards. Other rules 
are inconsistent, such as those governing 
the rights to a grave space which can be 
purchased, or the extra protections afforded 
to burials of members of the armed forces 
who died in service in the two World Wars. 

Reusing and reclaiming old graves
Grave reclamation is when the space 
above existing burials in a grave is used to 
make further burials. It is already possible 
in circumstances where nobody owns 
the right to a grave, and our proposed 
reforms would not change this. Grave 
reuse is when remains in an old grave are 
disinterred, reburied, and the grave is used 
again. Reuse is commonly practised and 

understood in many countries. While its 
use in England and Wales is less common 
and it is less widely known, it is far from 
novel. Grave reuse has been used in 
Church of England churchyards since 
time immemorial, and is also permitted in 
London local authority cemeteries, and three 
other cemeteries as a result of private Acts 
of Parliament. 

The available evidence suggests that grave 
space is running out in many parts of the 
country. Reusing and reclaiming old graves 
could help address this problem, provided 
the law enabling it included sufficient 
safeguards to ensure public support. But in 
local authority cemeteries outside London, 
and in private and non-Church of England 
religious cemeteries, grave reuse is not 
permitted by law. Another means to create 
more burial space could be to reopen for 
reuse burial grounds, particularly Church of 
England churchyards, which were closed in 
the past – in some cases, well over a century 
ago. But the law does not permit this either. 

Disused burial grounds
Where a burial ground is no longer in use, 
there may come a time where it is preferable 
for the land to be put to an alternative use. 
At present there is a general prohibition 
on building over disused burial grounds. 
However, this prohibition is not absolute and 
in Church of England churchyards, other 
private religious burial grounds, and in burial 
grounds which have been compulsorily 
purchased or appropriated for development 
by a public authority, the law offers an 
exception to this ban. If the burial ground 
owner follows certain safeguards, they are 
able to develop the land which was formerly 
used for burials. In Church of England and 
private religious burial grounds, that includes 
a period of 50 years during which the family 
of those buried in the burial ground can veto 
any development.

Page 26



Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper6

That leaves other private burial grounds 
and local authority cemeteries without such 
provision, meaning that other uses of that 
land in the future are not possible. 

Cremation
The regulations governing cremation have 
been subject to more recent reform than 
burial law. However, there are a number of 
areas of law which cause problems for those 
working in the sector, or where the law may 
be argued to no longer serve the purpose for 
which it was passed. 

For example, there are currently a significant 
number of sets of ashes from cremation 
which funeral directors have received 
from the crematoria, but which are then 
left uncollected by family or friends of the 
deceased person. But while crematoria have 
permission to scatter ashes which are left 
in their care, there is no provision to enable 
funeral directors to deal with them. 

Similarly, funeral directors must ensure that 
pacemakers are removed from the bodies 
of deceased people before cremation, 
otherwise they cause damage to equipment 
at the crematorium. But due to a feature 
of Department for Health guidance on 
pacemakers, funeral directors do not have 
the legal right to dispose of them, leading to 
them retaining large numbers of the devices.

Cremation law also includes a rule that 
crematoria must be constructed at least 
200 yards from a home and 50 yards from 
a highway. That rule was put in place when 
there were concerns about the public health 
impacts of emissions from crematoria. Given 
the effect of modern technology in reducing 
those impacts, stakeholders have raised 
questions as to whether that rule is needed 
in the modern age. 

The overall project

This Consultation Paper is part of an overall 
project called Burial, Cremation and New 
Funerary Methods. That project exists 
because stakeholders told us, in response 
to an open public consultation as part of our 
13th Programme of Law Reform in 2017, 
that the law which governs how we deal with 
the bodies of dead people is out of date and 
not fit for purpose.

Because the issues involved are so broad, 
we have split the project into three parts. As 
well as this one, on Burial and Cremation, 
there are two others: 

1. New Funerary Methods, which will 
identify an appropriate regulatory 
framework for new methods such 
as alkaline hydrolysis and human 
composting, which are in use in other 
jurisdictions. This part is currently 
in process; and 

2. Rights and Obligations Relating to 
Funerals, Funerary Methods, and 
Remains, which will look at whether 
decisions you make about your body 
after death should be binding, and how 
disputes over funerary methods and 
remains should be resolved. This part will 
begin at the end of 2025.

Page 27



7Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper

Some issues which relate to this area of law 
are outside the scope of the project. These 
include, among others, death registration, 
the regulation of funeral directors, and 
planning and environmental law. 

Burial and cremation law are matters on 
which the Senedd, the Welsh devolved 
legislature, has the power to make new 
laws. Enacting any reforms that need new 
primary legislation would require either 
an Act of the Senedd, or for the Senedd 
to give consent to the Westminster 
Parliament legislating. 

This summary first sets out how burial and 
cremation law have evolved over time, and 
some issues which are relevant to this area 
of law as a whole. It then addresses the 
significant issue of grave reuse, and other 
issues which relate to the future availability 
of burial space and sustainability of burial 
grounds. We then look at the regulation of 
burial grounds, and, finally, cremation law.

Page 28



Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper8

The development of burial and cremation law 

The table below shows how burial and cremation law have developed over the centuries.

Burial Cremation 

Pre-1800s The Church of England is 
responsible for burials. Burial 
grounds from other faiths, and 
Protestant Christian dissenters, 
begin to develop.

Cremation is not typically practised 
in the UK. 

1800s First, private cemetery companies 
are established, often by Acts 
of Parliament. The Cemeteries 
Clauses Act 1847 establishes a 
template for such Acts.

Then, successive Burial Acts 
provide for public cemeteries 
run by Burial Boards, and some 
regulation of burials, including 
powers to close burial grounds.

Some in society begin advocating 
for cremation as a more sanitary 
funerary method. 

The case of R v Price [1884] 
establishes that cremation is not 
unlawful.

Local Acts of Parliament enable 
councils or corporations to 
establish crematoria.

1900s The Welsh Church (Burial Grounds) 
Act 1945 resolves the position 
of Church in Wales churchyards 
following disestablishment. 

 The Local Government Act 1972 
and Local Authorities’ Cemeteries 
Order 1977 replace much of the 
Burial Acts with simpler powers 
for parish and district councils to 
provide cemeteries.

The Cremation Act 1902 is 
passed, enabling local authorities 
to establish crematoria, with 
regulations made under that Act 
governing how cremation should 
be conducted in all crematoria.

Cremation becomes commonplace 
by the second half of the twentieth 
century.

Today The result of the development of 
burial law over the centuries is that 
burial is now a diverse sector, with 
broadly a tripartite division between 
Anglican, local authority and private 
burial grounds. 

Rise of direct cremation, where 
cremation takes place without a 
funeral service at the same time.

Page 29



9Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper

Ecclesiastical law 
The Church of England is the established 
church in England, meaning that it has 
a formal relationship with the state. One 
element of that relationship is that the 
Church of England has its own courts. One 
such type of court, the consistory court, 
can hear applications for a type of decision 
called a “faculty”. A faculty is needed in 
order to permit many types of changes 
to churchyards.

The Church in Wales
The Church in Wales was created in 1920 
when the role of the Church of England as 
the established church in Wales was ended. 
Following disestablishment, it retained 
the duty to bury all parishioners without 
discrimination which the Church of England 
has in England.

Faith and cultural perspectives 
on burial and cremation
Different faiths and cultures have different 
approaches to burial and cremation. The 
two major Christian denominations, the 
Anglican Church and the Roman Catholic 
Church, do not require one or the other. 
They do require that ashes are buried or 
strewn (laid on the ground and covered 
with soil) on consecrated ground. Islam 
places a prohibition on cremation. So does 
Orthodox Judaism, but not the Liberal or 
Reform traditions, and we have heard that 
some Caribbean and African communities in 
the UK have a strong preference for burial. 
Hinduism and Sikhism require cremation.

Reusing and reclaiming 
old graves 

The need for reuse and 
reclamation of old graves
Surveys have found that burial space is 
running out. A 2007 Ministry of Justice 
survey found that local authority cemeteries 
had on average 30 years’ space left, with 
less time in urban areas. Other studies have 
suggested that burial authorities have found 
strategies to release further space, such as 
using space which had not been intended 
for burials, but this approach may not be 
sustainable in the long run. 

It is difficult to establish a causal link 
between the availability of space in 
cemeteries, and the cost of a funeral, 
which will include a range of services. 
Nevertheless, the cost of funerals is rising. 
The most recent annual SunLife Cost 
of Dying report found that the cost of a 
basic funeral rose from £3,953 to £4,141 
from 2022 to 2023, and had increased 
126% over 20 years. We have heard from 
stakeholders that the cost of burial in some 
London cemeteries, particularly private 
ones, can be close to £10,000. 

New burial grounds can be developed to 
meet this need. For burial ground operators, 
that represents a significant cost, usually 
running into the millions. Requiring new land 
for burials means that it cannot be used for 
other purposes, which at a time of significant 
public debates around the availability of land 
for housing may represent a lost opportunity. 
When each burial plot in a cemetery is 
only used once, over the course of time 
the cemetery ceases to serve its original 
purpose and risks falling into disrepair and 
becoming a site for anti-social behaviour.

Page 30



Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper10

Grave reuse and reclamation offer a 
potential solution to the problems arising 
from a shortage of burial space.

Current law
Exclusive burial rights are the rights to 
control a grave space: to determine who is 
buried in it and to place any memorial over it. 
There are two types of burial grounds which 
have powers to extinguish burial rights early:  

1. London local authority cemeteries; and

2. cemeteries which have obtained their 
own Acts of Parliament for the purpose 
(namely Highgate Cemetery, New 
Southgate Cemetery, and Bishop’s 
Stortford Cemetery).

These cemeteries also have the power to 
reuse graves, which is when remains in an 
old grave are disinterred and reburied, and 
the grave is used again. Later in this section, 
we set out the different steps required by law 
to extinguish burial rights and then to reuse 
graves, in these cemeteries. 

In Church of England churchyards, grave 
reuse has been permitted since time 
immemorial, and a faculty is required if reuse 
involves moving memorials or remains. We 
do not propose any changes to grave reuse 
in relation to the Church of England. 

Grave reclamation is when the space above 
existing burials in a grave is used to make 
further burials. Under the current law, a 
grave can be reclaimed if there are no 
exclusive burial rights in relation to it. That 
may be because they have expired, because 
there never were any, or, in the cemeteries 
which have such powers, because they 
have been extinguished. Our provisional 
proposals would not change this position. 
They would however permit more burial 
grounds to extinguish burial rights in graves, 
after which they could then reclaim them.

Extinguishing burial rights
The same rules when it comes to 
extinguishing burial rights apply whether 
the grave is then reused, or reclaimed. 
For burial rights to be extinguished in a 
grave, there must have been no burials 
made for at least 75 years. The burial ground 
operator must publish a notice and serve 
it on the registered owner of the grave. 
After a minimum of six months the rights 
are extinguished. Any tombstone may be 
removed, and may be destroyed if it is not 
collected after three months.

If any objection is made by the owners of 
the burial right within the six-month period, 
then the right will not be extinguished. Any 
other objections also stop the process, 
unless the Secretary of State provides their 
consent. There are provisions for a registrar 
to resolve any disputes as to ownership, for 
details of any tombstones to be recorded 
and deposited with the Registrar General, 
and for compensation for any extinguished 
right to be paid if a claim is made within 
six months. The power to extinguish burial 
rights early does not apply to any rights 
which were granted after these provisions 
came into force.

Once burial rights have been extinguished 
in a grave and any memorials dealt with, the 
law does not require any further steps under 
the law before a grave can be reclaimed.

Page 31



11Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper

Reusing graves
Once any exclusive burial rights have been 
extinguished, additional steps must be taken 
before a grave can be reused. The starting 
point for grave reuse is that moving human 
remains requires either an exhumation 
licence from the Ministry of Justice or, if the 
remains are on ground consecrated by 
the Church of England, a faculty from the 
ecclesiastical courts. The Acts of Parliament 
which permit grave reuse provide an 
exception to the requirement for a licence 
(but not for a faculty). 

A grave can be reused by removing remains 
already within it, and reinterring them 
either at a deeper level (known as the “lift 
and deepen” method), or in another grave 
(“lift and rebury”). Only lift and deepen is 
permitted in London council cemeteries, 
but lift and rebury is permitted in the 
cemeteries which have obtained private 
Acts of Parliament. 

There are safeguards in place for grave 
reuse, which are similar to those for 
extinguishing exclusive burial rights. Only 
graves where the last remains were interred 
at least 75 years ago can be reused. 
Notices must be served by the burial ground 
operator, and if the owner of the burial right 
or the relatives of the deceased person 
objects to the reuse, no further attempt can 
happen for another 25 years.

Reform to the law
The law as it currently stands risks us 
running out of burial space; risks the cost 
of burial continuing to rise; has a particular 
impact on religious and cultural communities 
that require burial; risks anti-social behaviour 
as cemeteries fall into disrepair; and 
exposes burial ground operators to the cost 
of new burial grounds. It creates significant 
inconsistency in the tools to deal with these 
problems between different types of burial 
ground, and different parts of the country. 

Page 32



Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper12

For these reasons, we think that an 
extension of grave reuse and reclamation 
powers is desirable. We acknowledge that 
reuse of old graves is a sensitive issue. 
Our provisional proposals would introduce 
two stages of safeguards. First, a burial 
ground operator would have to consult the 
local community before obtaining reuse 
and reclamation powers for the cemetery. 
Then, there would be protections in place 
before any particular grave could be reused 
or reclaimed. 

Obtaining reuse and reclamation 
powers
It is important to note that no burial ground 
operator would be required to reuse or 
reclaim graves. Our proposed reforms would 
only give them the option to do so.

In order to obtain grave reuse and 
reclamation powers, we provisionally 
propose that burial ground operators should 
be required to apply for a decision to the 
Secretary of State. They would need to 
submit the results of a public consultation, 
and a grave reuse and reclamation plan 
including information about the graves 
affected, a conservation plan, and 
any mitigation steps identified through 
the consultation.

We acknowledge that these requirements 
are burdensome and would take time and 
cost money to comply with. They could 
reduce the extent to which graves are 
reused. However, the costs involved will 
be less than the effort and expense of 
securing a private Act of Parliament, and 
this approach would provide reassurance 
to the public. 

Safeguards for the reuse or 
reclamation of any specific grave
We provisionally propose that expanded 
grave reuse and reclamation powers for all 
types of burial ground should have broadly 
the same safeguards as those in place 
where it is already permitted. Therefore, an 
objection from relatives of the deceased 
person or the grave owner should result in 
the process being stopped for 25 years. 

The burial ground operator should be 
required to tell a potential purchaser that 
a grave they are considering buying an 
exclusive right to burial in is one that is being 
reused or reclaimed. 

A key question on which we consult is how 
long the period should be between the last 
burial in a grave, and the point at which it 
can be reused or reclaimed. The current 
period before reuse or reclaimed is permitted 
is 75 years. Two main considerations are 
cited when it comes to how long that period 
should be: the time it naturally takes for 
a body to decompose, and ensuring that 
graves are not reused or reclaimed during 
the lifetime of someone who knew the 
deceased person. On that basis, we ask 
an open question consulting on a period of 
75 years, 100 years, or another period. 

We provisionally propose that both lift and 
deepen and lift and rebury methods should 
be permitted when reusing a grave. We 
ask whether there should be a requirement 
that a grave must not be reused if it still 
contains significant remains from a previous 
burial. We also ask whether the Secretary of 
State should be able to permit grave reuse 
after a shorter period of time in exceptional 
circumstances.

See Consultation Questions 18 to 
24. Chapter 6 of the full Consultation 
Paper addresses this issue.

Page 33



13Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper

Our provisional proposals for grave reuse and reclamation

Page 34



Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper14

Closed and disused burial grounds 

Closed burial grounds
Under the current law, all burial grounds 
can be closed to further burials by an Order 
in Council. Orders in Council are a legal 
instrument issued by the Sovereign on the 
advice of the Privy Council. In the case of 
closing burial grounds, the Secretary of 
State makes an application to seek one. The 
law governing this area was introduced in 
the 1850s to address the perceived public 
health risk from overly full burial grounds. 
Now, though, they are mainly used to close 
Church of England churchyards. 

We consider that the use of Orders in 
Council to close a burial ground is outdated, 
and provisionally propose that it is replaced 
by a decision of the Secretary of State. The 
basis on which a closure order could be 
made would be set out in a reformed law.

The law currently does not permit closed 
burial grounds to be reopened. However, 
some stakeholders have told us that they 
may be interested in reopening burial 
grounds which have been closed by Orders 
in Council. The last burial in many of these 
will have happened well over a century ago, 
so they could be suitable for grave reuse. 
We provisionally propose that it should also 
be possible for the Secretary of State to 
reopen closed burial grounds. 

Page 35



15Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper

When a Church of England churchyard 
is closed, the parochial church council 
(the parish church’s executive body) has 
the power to transfer responsibility for its 
maintenance to the secular parish council, 
who can then transfer it to the district 
council. We do not propose any changes 
to this power, as it results from the duty 
the Church of England has to bury all 
parishioners. 

However, our proposed reforms would 
enable closed churchyards which have been 
transferred into local authority maintenance 
to be reopened. The question then arises as 
to who should be responsible for maintaining 
them when new burials begin to be made. 
We provisionally propose that it should 
continue to be the local authority, because 
returning responsibility to the Church would 
reduce the incentive to reopen churchyards. 
However, we consult openly on whether 
there should be any provision to share fees 
for burial, or to charge an additional fee for 
burials in previously closed churchyards, 
which would be paid to the local authority. 

See Consultation Questions 25 to 
30. Chapter 7 of the full Consultation 
Paper addresses this issue.

Closed burial grounds in Wales
The Church in Wales has no equivalent 
power to transfer the responsibility 
for maintaining burial grounds to local 
authorities. However, it continues to 
have a duty to bury parishioners without 
discrimination. As a result, we have heard 
that the Church in Wales is hesitant to open 
new burial grounds unless they have an 
endowment and financial plan to maintain 
them indefinitely. This in turn has a negative 
impact on the availability of burial space, 
particularly in areas of rural Wales where 
local authority burial grounds may be some 
distance away.

We ask for consultees’ views on giving the 
Church in Wales an equivalent power to 
transfer maintenance responsibility to local 
authorities. We recognise that this would 
create a significant cost pressure on Welsh 
local authorities.

See Consultation Question 31. 
Chapter 7 of the full Consultation 
Paper addresses this issue.

Page 36



Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper16

Exhumation
Exhumation is when human remains are 
removed from a place of burial. Exhumation 
without lawful authority is a criminal offence. 
That authority can be obtained from the 
consistory court if the body is in ground 
consecrated by the Church of England, or 
through a licence from the Ministry of Justice 
if it is not. We do not propose significant 
changes to these processes, although we 
do provisionally propose an increase in the 
maximum penalty for unlawful exhumation.

See Consultation Question 33. 
Chapter 8 of the full Consultation 
Paper addresses this issue.

Disused burial grounds
The Disused Burial Grounds Act 1884 
prohibits building on disused burial grounds. 
However, there are a number of provisions 
which provide exceptions to that rule, 
which enable land which is no longer 
used for burial to be put to other uses. 
Those provisions also disapply the law on 
exhumations. A burial ground does not have 
to be formally closed to be disused, it must 
only no longer be used for burials. 

The current exceptions to the ban on 
building on disused burial grounds cover 
three circumstances: 

1. Church of England churchyards and 
burial grounds; 

2. other religious burial grounds; and

3. burial grounds which have been acquired 
or appropriated for planning purposes. 

In each case certain safeguards must 
be followed. For non-Church of England 
religious burial grounds, notice must be 
given by the owner of the land for two weeks 
in a newspaper and near the land itself. 

The personal representative (the executor or 
administrator) or relatives of a person buried 
in the last 50 years in the burial ground have 
six weeks to object to the development, and 
if they do, it may not proceed. 

If there are no objections, remains buried 
in the land must be removed and reburied 
or cremated, and memorials dealt with, in 
accordance with directions issued by the 
Secretary of State. Notices must be given of 
these plans, so that the relatives of people 
buried in the burial ground may remove the 
remains themselves at the expense of the 
owner of the burial ground. 

The law in its current state leaves other 
private burial grounds, and local authority 
cemeteries, without any provision to enable 
building to occur on disused burial grounds. 
A number of stakeholders have told us this 
is confusing, and a barrier to the long-term 
financial sustainability of those who operate 
burial grounds, including local authorities. 

We provisionally propose that the scheme 
applying to non-Church of England religious 
burial grounds should be extended to all 
private and local authority burial grounds. 
We also ask whether the period during 
which the relatives of people buried in the 
burial ground can veto development should 
remain at 50 years, or whether it should 
be brought into line with the longer period 
of 75 or 100 years that we consult on as a 
requirement before graves can be reused. 

See Consultation Question 36. 
Chapter 8 of the full Consultation 
Paper addresses this issue.

Page 37



17Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper

The law applying to different types of burial grounds

Approach to regulation of 
burial grounds
There are a limited number of laws that apply 
to all types of burial ground, such as the 
Secretary of State’s powers to inspect them 
and seek Orders in Council to close them, 
and the duty to register burials.  
Many other aspects of burial law vary 
depending on whether the burial ground is 
operated by a local authority, the Church 
of England, the Church in Wales, or a 
private operator. 

This can lead to confusion as to which 
laws apply in any given case and, in 
particular, there have been calls for greater 
regulation of private burial grounds, given 
the relative lack of legislation that currently 
applies to them. 

We do not think, however, that it would be 
right to apply a single set of uniform burial 
laws to all types of burial grounds. The 
different levels of regulation which apply in 
local authority and private burial grounds 
reflect their different histories and contexts, 
and what works for one sector may not 
necessarily always work for another. Private 
burial grounds are a place where private 
individuals can enter into contracts with 
private companies or organisations, and 
religious private burial grounds are a place 
where the private rules of association may 
reflect that religion’s practices and doctrines. 

Instead, we make provisional proposals for 
reform where the evidence suggests that 
specific elements of regulation should apply 
to particular kinds of burial ground, or, in 
some cases, to all types of burial ground.

See Consultation Question 1. Chapter 
2 of the full Consultation Paper 
addresses this issue.

Laws applying to different types of burial ground

Local 
authority

Church of 
England

Church in 
Wales

Private

Maintenance 
standards

Yes Yes Yes Some

Burial 
specifications

Yes No No No

Burial rights 
issued in writing

Yes Yes No Some

Page 38



Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper18

Maintenance 
Different maintenance standards apply to 
different types of burial grounds.

1. Local authorities must keep their 
cemeteries in good order and repair.

2. In some older private burial grounds, 
founding legislation says they must be 
kept in complete repair.

3. Canon law says Church of England 
churchyards must be kept in orderly 
and decent manner as becomes 
consecrated ground.

4. Church in Wales burial grounds must be 
kept in decent order, in such a manner 
as to preserve the cemetery for the 
enjoyment of the public.

In addition, burial ground operators will owe 
different duties of care under the Occupiers’ 
Liability Acts 1957 and 1984 to visitors and 
to others, including trespassers.

The Secretary of State can authorise the 
inspection of any burial ground or cemetery 
to determine its condition, and, where any 
regulations apply, whether they have been 
complied with. The Secretary of State can 
also seek Orders in Council to close a burial 
ground, or to require actions to be taken 
to prevent one from being dangerous or 
injurious to public health.

We are not aware of widespread problems 
with the standards of maintenance in burial 
grounds in England and Wales. Over the last 
decade, however, there have been some 
complaints about maintenance in local 
authority cemeteries, and rare instances 
of more significant poor standards. 
Stakeholders have also told us that they 
would welcome greater clarity and uniformity 
when it comes to maintenance. 

A uniform standard of maintenance
We consider that there is a case for a 
maintenance standard that applies to all 
burial grounds, including all private burial 
grounds. Burial is not simply a private 
matter, but rather one of public importance. 

A uniform maintenance standard will need 
to be sensitive to the varied circumstances 
of burial grounds, ranging from newly 
established natural burial grounds to long-
closed non-denominational churchyards. 
For that reason, we provisionally propose 
a contextual standard: that every burial 
ground owner should be required to 
maintain their burial ground in good order 
appropriate to its current use.

There is a lack of evidence of significant, 
widespread problems with maintenance in 
burial grounds. This could be because there 
is no problem, or it could be because there 
are problems, but they are not reported. 
We ask consultees if they have evidence 
on this point.

Because of this lack of evidence, we are 
cautious about imposing further regulatory 
requirements on burial ground operators, 
beyond a general maintenance duty. If 
consultation responses establish the need 
for such requirements, we consider that they 
could take two possible forms: a statutory 
code of practice, or a requirement for burial 
ground operators to publish a management 
plan. We ask for consultees’ views on 
these options.

See Consultation Questions 5 and 
6. Chapter 3 of the full Consultation 
Paper addresses this issue.

Page 39



19Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper

Enforcement
In order for a uniform standard of 
maintenance and burial specifications 
to be effective, there needs to be some 
mechanism to enforce them. We consider 
the best option is to retain but enhance 
the current system – that is, the Secretary 
of State having ad hoc inspection and 
enforcement powers. The main tool that the 
Secretary of State currently has is to seek 
an Order in Council to require actions to 
be taken. Our provisional proposals would 
give the Secretary of State the power, in 
response to an inspection report, to issue 
a notice requiring action to be taken by a 
burial ground operator in order to meet their 
statutory duties, including those imposed by 
the uniform maintenance standard.

The Secretary of State can currently direct 
a local authority to take actions in relation to 
a burial ground. We provisionally propose 
modernising this power, and enabling 
the local authority to charge back the 
costs of carrying out those actions to the 
cemetery owner.

See Consultation Questions 7 and 
9. Chapter 3 of the full Consultation 
Paper addresses this issue.

Burial specifications 
All local authority cemeteries are subject to 
the same rules as to how a body should be 
buried. No other type of cemetery is subject 
to a consistent set of rules.

Within a local authority cemetery, a body 
must be buried at least three feet deep, 
meaning that no part of the coffin can be 
less than three feet below ground level. 
An exception applies where the coffin is 
made of perishable materials and the soil 
is suitable. In these circumstances a burial 
within a local authority cemetery may be 

made at the shallower depth of at least two 
feet. There are also specific provisions about 
walled graves and vaults.

There are no universal rules applying 
to Church of England churchyards or 
private cemeteries about the minimum 
depth of a grave. 

We think there is a case for a single set 
of minimum burial specifications across 
different types of burial ground, on the basis 
of the impact that improper burials can have 
on the families and friends of deceased 
people – particularly if they result in remains 
being unearthed. The question is what those 
specifications should be.

The scientific evidence suggests that 
what happens to a body after it is buried 
is subject to a wide range of factors, such 
as the quality of the soil and physical 
characteristics of the person who has been 
buried. As a result, rules on how a body 
should be buried which sought fully to reflect 
all of these different factors through different 
rules for different circumstances might 
quickly become cumbersome. 

We have not heard that the current rules 
in local authority burial grounds, that is, 
burial at two feet in a perishable coffin and 
in appropriate soil conditions, or three feet 
otherwise, result in these negative outcomes 
occurring. However, the limited research 
evidence seems to suggest that deeper 
burials should be required for burials made 
without a coffin (that is, burials in a shroud). 
We therefore ask an open question about 
what the requirements should be for a 
uniform burial specification. We provisionally 
propose that breaching the new rules should 
be a criminal offence.

See Consultation Question 10. 
Chapter 3 of the full Consultation 
Paper addresses this issue.

Page 40



Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper20

Burial and memorial rights 
Everyone in England has a right to be 
buried in a Church of England churchyard, 
which is known as an “ordinary right 
of burial”. The law then governs which 
churchyards a person has the right to be 
buried in. The ordinary right of burial does 
not include a right to buried in a particular 
part of the churchyard or burial ground, 
or to further interments in the plot so that 
family members are buried in the same 
plot, or to the erection of a monument 
or the construction of a vault. For any of 
these to be granted in a Church of England 
churchyard, a faculty must be obtained.

An exclusive right of burial is different to the 
ordinary right of burial. Broadly, an exclusive 
right of burial is the right to bury one or 
more bodies or sets of ashes in a specific 
grave plot. Exclusive rights of burial can be 
granted in relation to a Church of England, 
local authority or private burial ground. 

In local authority cemeteries, we understand 
that common practice is for exclusive burial 
rights and memorial rights to be granted for 
50 or 75 years, but there is no lower limit 
in the law. These rights cannot be granted, 
in the first place, for longer than 100 years, 
but can be extended. They must be issued 
in writing, and can be passed on by deed 
or inherited. A local authority can also, 
separately, grant a right to place a memorial 
on a grave, either to the person who owns 
the burial right or to a relative, if the owner of 
the burial right cannot be traced.

In private burial grounds, the status of 
exclusive rights of burial varies. Private 
cemeteries established by Acts of 
Parliament may have requirements to issue 
rights in writing, but those which are not 
governed by any legislation may not.

There are various effects of different 
exclusive rights of burial. These include the 
way that exhumation is controlled, remedies 
for infringement, who has control of the right 
and whether successors in title are bound 
by the right. 

Problems with burial and 
memorial rights
We have heard of varied practice in private 
cemeteries which are not established by 
statute when it comes to issuing burial and 
memorial rights, with documentation varying 
from a simple receipt at one end of the 
scale, to a deed at the other. 

We have also heard of disputes in which 
family members of deceased people have 
been unable to place any memorial over 
their graves because another member of the 
family, who owns the burial right, has not 
done so or refuses to do so.

Page 41



21Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper

Reform of the law
We consider that imposing some of the 
formality and record-keeping requirements 
currently in place for local authority 
cemeteries upon all private cemeteries 
would address some of the issues we have 
heard of, as regards relatives and executors 
of deceased people being provided with 
little information on the rights they have 
purchased. We provisionally propose that all 
burial rights and memorial rights should be 
issued in writing. 

We also consider that there may be benefit 
in introducing an optional scheme of 
statutory exclusive burial rights in private 
cemeteries, and provisionally consult on 
such a proposal. Such a scheme could offer 
certainty and clarity to the purchaser of the 
right. It could be seen as of benefit to the 
cemetery operator, by saving the time costs 
of creating their own scheme.

We also provisionally propose that where no 
memorial is raised over a grave within two 
years, local authorities should be permitted 
to grant a right to place a memorial on the 
grave to any relative of the deceased person 
– a neutrally-worded one, if there is any 
dispute as to what the memorial should say. 

See Consultation Questions 11 to 
13. Chapter 4 of the full Consultation 
Paper addresses this issue.

Page 42



Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper22

Private land burials

Burial on private land, as opposed to in 
a burial ground (including a private burial 
ground), is believed to be rare. It is often 
used where there is a connection between 
the deceased person and the land, such as 
a family farm or landed estate. There is no 
law prohibiting burial on private land. Private 
land burials must adhere to the law which 
applies to all other forms of burial, such as 
death registration and environmental law. 

Private land burials must also be registered. 
However, there is no requirement that the 
register is handed over when the land is sold 
or transferred. This could lead to problems, 
such as future building works resulting in an 
exhumation causing distress and cost to the 
new owners, and the family of the deceased 
person. We provisionally propose that it 
should be a criminal offence to fail to transfer 
the record of a burial that is made on private 
land when property on the land is sold.

See Consultation Question 3. Chapter 
2 of the full Consultation Paper 
addresses this issue.

The Commonwealth War 
Graves Commission

The Commonwealth War Graves 
Commission (“CWGC”) was 
established under Royal Charter in 
1917 to commemorate the 1.7 million 
service men and women of the 
Commonwealth Forces who died in 
the First and Second World Wars. 

There are specific rights afforded to 
the CWGC so that it can protect war 
burials in the law governing local 
authority cemeteries, Church of 
England churchyards, in the law on 
grave reuse, and in the law on building 
on disused burial grounds. 

However, there are gaps in these 
rights, and we make provisional 
proposals which would address them. 
We also make provisional proposals 
which would give the CWGC new 
rights in relation to private cemeteries. 
Chapter 9 of the full Consultation 
Paper addresses this issue.

Page 43



23Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper

Cremation 

The regulations governing cremation have 
been subject to more recent reform than 
burial law, and indeed remain in a state of 
transition following the introduction of the 
new statutory medical examiner system. 
However, there remain specific issues which 
merit a review. 

In addition to these issues, we note that 
the current rules which govern cremation 
applications can result in disputes, including 
about who should be able to receive ashes 
after cremation. We consider that this issue 
can only be properly considered alongside 
the overall issue of who should have the 
right to decide what happens to our bodies 
after we die. That issue will be addressed 
in the third part of the overall Burial, 
Cremation and New Funerary Methods 
project, so we do not make any proposals at 
this stage – but we do ask for evidence on 
the scale of the problem.

See Consultation Question 45. 
Chapter 11 of the full Consultation 
Paper addresses this issue.

Uncollected ashes and 
removed pacemakers
Two issues of cremation law cause particular 
problems in relation to funeral directors. 

First, the law provides for crematoria to 
scatter or bury ashes after 14 days if they 
are uncollected. Funeral directors have no 
similar provision, and it has been reported 
that they hold a quarter of a million sets of 
uncollected ashes as a result. As well as 
the practical difficulties arising from storing 
ashes, the premises of funeral directors are 
not a suitable final resting place.

We provisionally propose that where funeral 
directors have held ashes for at least four 
weeks, they should take reasonable steps 
to contact the person who applied for the 
cremation to find out what they want to 
happen to the ashes. If the applicant does 
not respond within four weeks, the funeral 
director should be able to return the ashes 
to the crematorium, and the crematorium 
should have a duty to accept them. The 
crematorium would then be able to bury or 
scatter the ashes under its existing powers. 
This provisional proposal would apply 
retrospectively, that is, to ashes which are 
currently unclaimed and in funeral directors’ 
possession, as well as to those which are 
not collected in the future. 

Page 44



Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper24

Secondly, due to an unintended 
consequence of Government guidance from 
the 1980s, many funeral directors hold large 
numbers of pacemakers removed prior to 
cremation for safety reasons, which they do 
not have legal authority to dispose of. We 
provisionally propose a scheme to enable 
them to dispose of them as they see fit, 
once relatives of the deceased person have 
had an opportunity to claim them.

See Consultation Questions 50 
and 53. Chapters 11 and 13 of the 
full Consultation Paper address 
these issues.

Where cremations can happen
Cremation law restricts where new 
crematoria can be constructed. They must 
be built at least 200 yards from a dwelling 
house (unless the owner, lessee and 
occupier consent in writing) and 50 yards 
from a public highway. 

This requirement was introduced in the 
Cremation Act 1902, due to concerns about 
the impact of cremations on air quality. 
While sensitivities on this point continue to 
exist, environmental protection requirements 
in relation to cremation are extensive and 
ought to ensure that emissions, particularly 
from new crematoria, are not harmful to 
public health. The rule may be said no 
longer to serve the purpose for which it 
was introduced.

Page 45



25Burial and Cremation – Summary of the Consultation Paper

However, it appears from planning cases 
that the rule may now be serving a different 
purpose, of enabling crematoria to be built 
on Green Belt and countryside sites where 
they would otherwise not be permitted. 
It has also been argued that it therefore 
ensures an appropriate degree of solemnity 
at crematoria, by restricting noise and 
disturbance from neighbours. For this 
reason, we ask an open question as to 
whether the rule on where crematoria can be 
sited should be repealed or retained.

See Consultation Question 51. 
Chapter 12 of the full Consultation 
Paper addresses this issue.

Next steps

The provisional proposals contained in 
the full Consultation Paper provide a key 
opportunity to bring the law governing burial 
and cremation up to date. Doing so will 
ensure that with appropriate safeguards, 
reuse and reclamation of old graves is 
available to secure burial space for the 
future across the country. It will enable 
closed Church of England churchyards to be 
reopened so that more people have access 
to burial space close to them, and in settings 
which are meaningful for them. It will ensure 
that there are sufficient protections for 
bereaved people who choose to bury their 
families and friends, whatever type of burial 
ground they use. It will address unresolved 
and outdated aspects of cremation law. 

Your responses to this consultation will 
enable us to make final recommendations 
that reflect the expertise of those who work 
in the burial and cremation sector, and 
the real-life experiences of those who use 
the sector for the funerals of their friends 
and relatives.

Page 46



Page 47


	Agenda
	7 To receive and approve the minutes from the Burial Authority meeting held on 25 April 2024  as a true and correct record.
	8 To receive the Burial Authority Committee budget statement and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	11 To receive a request from Antony Estates for shared facilities and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	2024-09-12-Heads of Terms for shared car park use

	12 To receive a report from the Service Delivery Department and consider any actions and associated expenditure.
	13 To set the Burial Authority Fees and Charges for the year 2025/26 recommending to the Policy and Finance Committee.
	14 To set the Burial Authority budget for the year 2025/26 recommending to the Policy and Finance Committee.
	15 To receive the Law Commission Burial and Cremation Consultation and consider any actions.
	Burial-and-Cremation-CP-Summary
	This consultation
	This summary
	Responding to our consultation
	Why is reform needed?
	The overall project
	The development of burial and cremation law 
	Reusing and reclaiming old graves 
	Closed and disused burial grounds 
	The law applying to different types of burial€grounds
	Private land burials
	Cremation 
	Next steps



	Button 1: 


